IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

**APPELLANT** 

DEC 17 2007 OF THE CLERK COURT

NO.2007-KA-00490-COA

**APPELLEE** 

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ATIBA PARKER

V.

.

,

**BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT** 

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

**MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS** 

Leslie S. Lee, Miss. Bar No. 301 N. Lamar St., Ste 210 Jackson MS 39201 601 576-4200

Counsel for Appellant







### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### ATIBA PARKER

APPELLANT

V.

NO.2007-KA-00490-COA

#### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 5
ARGUMENT
ISSUE NO. 1 THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO SEVER COUNT I AND COUNT ILOF THE INDICTMENT
ISSUE NO. 2 THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT TRIAL COUNSEL A CONTINUANCE
ISSUE NO. 3 THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING A DEFENSE PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE AFTER COUNSEL GAVE A RACE NEUTRAL FOR THE STRIKE
ISSUE NO. 4 THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN REFUSING A MISTRIAL AFTER THE PROSECUTOR IMPROPERLY QUESTIONED A DEFENSE CHARACTER WITNESS ABOUT APPELLANT'S OTHER PENDING CHARGES
ISSUE NO. 5 APPELLANT'S SENTENCE WAS VINDICTIVE AND CONSTITUTED CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT GIVEN APPELLANT'S MENTAL ILLNESS
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

## **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

• •

CASES:
Bass v. State, 597 So.2d 182 (Miss.1992) 17
Batson v. Kentucky 476 U.S. 79 (1986) 6, 13
Brawner v. State, 872 So.2d 1 (Miss. 2004)
Brent v. State, 632 So.2d 936 (Miss. 1994) 16
Bush v. State, 667 So.2d 26, 28 (Miss. 1996) 18
Carpenter v. State, 910 So.2d 528 (Miss. 2005) 17
Corley v. State, 584 So.2d 769 (Miss. 1991)
Davis v. State, 724 So.2d 342 (Miss.1998)
<i>Edge v. State</i> , 945 So.2d 1004 (Miss.App. 2007) 19
Gallion v. State, 469 So.2d 1247 (Miss. 1985) 18
Georgia v. McCollum, 505 U.S. 42 (1992) 12, 13
Hampton v. State, 815 So.2d 429 (Miss.App. 2002) 21, 22
Henderson v. State, 403 So.2d 139 (Miss. 1981) 17
Hernandez v. New York, 500 U.S. 352 (1991) 13
Johnson v. State, 477 So.2d 196 (Miss.1985) 17
Jones v. State, 951 So.2d 568 (Miss. App. 2006) 14
Kimbrough v. United States, No. 06-6330, 2007 WL 4292040 (2007) 19
Neal v. State, 451 So.2d 743 (Miss. 1984) 17
Ott v. State, 722 So.2d 576 (Miss.1998) 8, 9

Payton v. State, 897 So.2d 921 (Miss. 2003) 21
Perry v. State, 949 So.2d 764 (Miss.App. 2006) 14
Porter v. State, 735 So.2d 987 (Miss. 1999) 16, 17
Roundtree v. State, 568 So.2d 1173 (Miss.1990) 17
Rushing v. State, 911 So.2d 526 (Miss. 2005)
Stack v. State, 860 So.2d 687 (Miss. 2003) 11
Stewart v. State, 662 So.2d 552 (Miss. 1995) 14
Watkins v. State, 874 So.2d 486 (Miss.App. 2004)
Williams v. State, 539 So.2d 1049 (Miss. 1989) 17, 18
Williams v. State, 909 So.2d 1233 (Miss.App. 2005) 14
Constitutional Authorities:
U.S. Constitution, Eighth Amendment 18
Mississippi Constitution, Art. 3 § 28 18
Statutory Authority:
Miss. Code Ann. §41-29-139 (2005) 18
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-7-2 (1986) 8
Rules:
M.R.E. 608(b)

. .

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

## ISSUE NO. 1 THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO SEVER COUNT I AND COUNT II OF THE INDICTMENT.

# ISSUE NO. 2 THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT TRIAL COUNSEL A CONTINUANCE.

## ISSUE NO. 3 THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING A DEFENSE PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE AFTER COUNSEL GAVE A RACE NEUTRAL FOR THE STRIKE.

## ISSUE NO. 4 THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN REFUSING A MISTRIAL AFTER THE PROSECUTOR IMPROPERLY QUESTIONED A DEFENSE CHARACTER WITNESS ABOUT APPELLANT'S OTHER PENDING CHARGES.

## ISSUE NO. 5 APPELLANT'S SENTENCE WAS VINDICTIVE AND CONSTITUTED CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT GIVEN APPELLANT'S MENTAL ILLNESS.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Lowndes County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for the crimes of Count One, Sale of Cocaine and Count Two, Sale of Cocaine, against the appellant, Atiba Parker<sup>1</sup>. After a sentencing hearing, the trial judge sentenced Parker to twenty (20) years on Count I, with a fine of five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00), and fourteen (14) years on Count II, also with a five thousand dollar (\$5,000.00) fine. Count II was to be served consecutive to Count I for a total of thirty-four (34) years to serve. C.P. 95-98, Tr. 322, R.E. 41. This sentence followed a jury trial which began on November 15, 2006 and ended with a verdict on November 17, 2006, Honorable James T.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Count III was severed prior to trial. Tr. 12, R.E. 29.

Kitchens, Jr., Circuit Judge, presiding. Atiba Parker is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

#### FACTS

According to the trial testimony, Amanda Knapp had a relative die of a drug overdose. She wanted to help get drugs off the street, so she contacted Columbus Police Department. She told them that she could set up some people she knew. They made arrangements to set up cameras in the room she was living in at the Plaza Motel. Tr. 121. Knapp knew the appellant, Atiba Parker, sometimes stayed at the same hotel. She stated she knew him "from the streets," but later explained that she had known Parker since 2002, when she dated a friend of Parker's girlfriend. Tr. 122, 150-51.

Knapp admitted to being paid one hundred dollars (\$100.00) for each good buy she made. Tr. 122, 157. A "good buy" was one that was had a good video of the transaction. Tr. 157, 161, 164. On July 13, 2005, Agent Eric Lewis with the Columbus Police Department's Community Action Team or "CAT," came to Knapp's room to set up video equipment. Tr. 123, 164. Knapp testified she had previously called Parker and arranged to met with him later that afternoon. Tr. 123. However, none of that conversation was recorded.

Knapp testified that Agent Lewis searched her room and her person for contraband when he arrived. Tr. 123. Also living in the room with Knapp at the time was her aunt, Regina Kirkbaum. Tr. 125. Lewis could only perform a pat down search on the two women, as he could not do a strip search since no female officer was present. Tr. 176. Lewis gave Knapp two twenty dollar (\$20.00) bills and an evidence bag. Tr. 124. The conversations on the video are difficult to hear, but Knapp testified she called Parker and told him to come to her room and "serve" her. Tr. 125.

Knapp identified Exhibit 2 as the videotape of the transaction. Tr. 128. The tape was played for the jury. Tr. 130. Knapp describes Parker entering the room and taking cocaine out of his socks. Knapp stated she handed Parker the money and he gave her two rocks of cocaine. Tr. 133. Knapp stated she then put the rocks into the evidence bag, but that occurred off camera. Tr. 155. After Parker left the room, Agent Lewis returned and retrieved the evidence from her. Knapp and Lewis both identified Exhibit 1 as the bag containing the cocaine. Tr. 127, 169.

Agent Lewis asked Knapp to set up a second buy from Parker the following day. Tr. 136. Lewis testified that the police liked to set up multiple buys on one suspect to show a pattern and prove the sale was not a one time occurrence. Tr. 172. On July 14, 2005, Lewis again went to Knapp's room. Tr. 136-37, 172. He again searched the room and both Knapp and Kirkbaum, and set up the video and audio equipment. Tr. 137, 173. Knapp testified she called Parker after Lewis left the room. He arrived about thirty minutes later. Tr. 137. She gave him the money and he again pulled the cocaine out of his sock and laid it on the bed. Tr. 137-38. She then placed the drugs in the evidence bag provided by Lewis. Tr. 138. Knapp and Lewis both identified the bag as Exhibit 3. Tr. 139, 174-75.

Knapp also identified Exhibit 4 as the video of the second transaction on July 14<sup>th</sup>. Tr. 140. Again, the phone calls made to Parker setting up the deal were not recorded. There is no conversation on the video between Parker and Knapp referencing cocaine or any other drugs. Tr. 156. Knapp admitted on the stand that she was currently incarcerated pending three felony charges that she picked up after these videos were made. Tr. 120, 163-64. Knapp was living with her aunt and had no job. Tr. 149-50. Making these buys was her only source of income at the time. Tr. 156. Knapp claimed she did not spend time with Parker, and that he had never been in her room before. Tr. 160. Oddly enough, however, she testified he had a habit of leaving the door open when he came to her hotel room. Tr. 142-43.

Keith McMahon, a forensic scientist with the Crime Lab, testified Exhibit 1 contained a smokeable form of cocaine. Tr. 195, 198. (No weight was given). Jamie Johnson, also a forensic scientist with the Crime Lab, testified Exhibit 3 was analyzed and determined to contain 0.07 gram of crack cocaine. Tr. 188, 192.

Parker testified in his own defense. He told the jury that he would collect gas money form Knapp after giving her aunt rides to work. Tr. 208. He admitted he was the individual in videos played to the jury. Tr. 210. He stated that Knapp had requested an aspirin when he came up to get his gas money. He explained that he kept all his medications in his socks. Tr. 210. On the second video, he explained he was only collecting gas money and did not give Knapp anything. Tr. 213. Parker informed the jury he currently takes the prescription drugs Seroquel and Depakote. Tr. 204.

Dr. Raymond Overstreet was the psychiatrist treating Parker. He testified that Parker has Schizo-affective Disorder. Tr. 231. This is a kind of a mood as well as a thought disorder. It is characterized by mood changes, periods of depression, and at times, periods of more manic type behavior. "It can affect his judgment and can sometimes cause unusual abnormal type behaviors." He prescribed Depakote to try and stabilize the mood disorder, and the Seroquel for his psychotic symptoms. Tr. 232.

Parker also had several character witnesses testify to his reputation for truth and veracity in the community. All the witness stated that his reputation was good. Tr. 237-60. The record indicates that after these incidents in July of 2005, Parker successfully completed treatment as an inpatient drug rehabilitation program at The Pines/Cady Hill Chemical Dependency Program, and subsequently secured gainful part-time employment at Fred's in Columbus. C.P. 58, Tr. 238, 316-17. Eight months later he was arrested in a "round-up" of suspected drug dealers based on the transactions the previous July. Tr. 184.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The trial judge abused his discretion in not granting trial counsel's request for a continuance prior to trial. Counsel stated that she had spent the previous day on the trial of another defendant, and had just completed an election campaign which ended the week before, which took up approximately two months of her time. She explained she did not have adequate time to prepare for appellant's case. The trial judge also erred in not severing all three counts in appellant's indictment. Although it could be argued that Count I and Count II arose out of the same facts and circumstances, this was only the case because the State set it up to be so. The State controlled the dates and times of the controlled buys. Trying Count I and II together clearly prejudiced the defense.

The trial judge also abused his discretion in not allowing the defense a peremptory challenge on a military veteran in response to a reverse-*Batson* objection by the State. Upon objection, the defense counsel gave a race neutral reason for striking Juror No. 32. He was a 79 year old white male who was retired from the Navy. He had also recently served on a civil jury. The trial judge disallowed the strike, ruling that since counsel did not seek to strike him on a previous case tried the same week, she had to keep him on this case. This was clearly an abuse of discretion, as counsel gave a sufficient race neutral reason for the strike.

There was also reversible error when State improperly referred to all the pending charges against Parker when cross-examining a defense character witness. Upon prompt objection by defense counsel, the jury was sent home for the night, allowing that last inappropriate comment to linger until the following morning. The next day, without referencing the question, the Court asked the jury if they could disregard the comment. When all the jurors indicated that they could, the defense request for a mistrial was overruled. This was error. The instruction to disregard did not cure the obvious prejudice to Parker.

Finally, the trial judge also abused his discretion in giving the appellant a thirty-four year sentence for these two offenses without conducting any sort of inquiry into how his mental illness affected his actions. The buys were set up by a paid confidential informant who admitted this was her only source of income. Parker was a first time offender. All the prior offenses referred to by the court occurred in the same week period in July of 2005. The trial court inappropriately considered a prior juvenile arrest which occurred at least 12 years

prior to this trial and an arrest with no disposition in Michigan. At the very least, this Court should remand this case for a new sentencing hearing.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## ISSUE NO. 1 THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO SEVER COUNT I AND COUNT II OF THE INDICTMENT.

On the day prior to trial, defense counsel filed a motion requesting that all three counts

in Parker's indictment be severed. C.P. 45-46, R.E. 22-23. A hearing was held on the

motion prior to jury selection. Tr. 9-12, R.E. 26-29. The court agreed that Count III was

remote enough in time to sever from the other counts, but refused to sever Count I and II.

[BY THE COURT:]... The fact that these are similar cases, similar identical crimes, I think does militate in favor of keeping these two together. You've got the same witnesses and those kind of things. It's not like one day he's charged with sale of cocaine and the other day he's charged with a rape that's totally unrelated. That would militate in favor of severance.

So, I find that the Count Number 1 and Count Number 2 can be tried together under the statutes and the under the case law. And I will allow that to be tried.

Tr. 12-13, R.E. 29-30.

The appellant would assert that the trial court erred in not severing these counts. The facts are similar and close in time, but the State, not the appellant, manufactured the time and circumstance of the buys. The State deliberately tried to get as many sales on the appellant as possible to make him look like a drug dealer and not just a user. Agent Lewis admitted this during his testimony.

Q. Why did you want to go ahead and have another deal with this particular defendant? Explain that to these ladies and gentlemen of the jury.

A. The reason we do is, to try to have – we try to get multiple deals on a subject. And the reason for that is, because we want to maybe show this is – show that this is not a one time occurrence. We try to show a pattern of this going on over and over again. So, we can, you know, help us to know that his is a person that is, you know, actually a problem in our society who is selling this cocaine.

Tr. 172.

Miss. Code Ann. § 99-7-2(1) (1986), states in part that two or more offenses may be charged in a single indictment if: "(a) the offenses are based on the same act or transaction; or (b) the offenses are based on two (2) or more acts or transactions connected together or constituting parts of a common scheme or plan." Subsection (2) allows both offenses to be tried together at a single proceeding. However, the statute does not address the circumstance where law enforcement dictates that timing of the transactions.

This Court has held that repeated sales of narcotics in a short span of time can constitute part of a common scheme or plan. *Watkins v. State*, 874 So.2d 486 (¶19) (Miss.App. 2004), citing *Ott v. State*, 722 So.2d 576 (¶23) (Miss.1998). However, the facts in *Watkins* are distinguishable from the case at bar. The undercover officer in *Watkins* was not targeting one individual. The officer was cruising in a high crime neighborhood looking to buy drugs. *Watkins* at ¶3. The officer purchased cocaine from Watkins and went out again looking for more sellers three days later. She was not intentionally looking to buy from Watkins, but he approached her and sold her more cocaine. *Id* at ¶6. The officers were not attempting to sell to Watkins for a second time in three days. This Court held there was no basis for a severance under those circumstances. *Id*. at ¶21.

In *Ott*, officers set up a controlled buy with the defendant using a confidential informant. After the buy, the CI informed officers that Ott had more marijuana. Based on that information, officers got another confidential informant to page Ott and try and set up another deal. *Ott*, 722 So.2d at  $\P$  2-6. There is no indication in the opinion on whether or not the officers attempted to control the date or time for the second transaction.

In its ruling at trial, the court cited the case of *Rushing v. State*, 911 So.2d 526 (Miss. 2005). Tr. 12. In *Rushing*, the Mississippi Supreme Court reiterated that severance issues are reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Id.* at ¶12, citing *Brawner v. State*, 872 So.2d 1 (¶15-20) (Miss. 2004). Rushing was a prescription fraud case, where the defendant was indicted on four counts spread across a five month period. The State elected to proceed to trial on three of the counts. *Rushing*, 922 So.2d 526 at ¶6. The Supreme Court found no abuse of discretion in refusing to sever the counts. *Id.* at ¶21.

As referenced in *Rushing*, the Mississippi Supreme Court laid out three cornerstone considerations a trial court must weigh when deciding severance issues. These considerations are set forth in *Corley v. State*, 584 So.2d 769, 772 (Miss. 1991). "The trial court should pay particular attention to whether the time period between the occurrences is insignificant, whether the evidence proving each count would be admissible to prove each of the other counts, and whether the crimes are interwoven." *Id*.

The appellant submits this is not a crime spree of the appellant's own choosing. The confidential informant called him and asked him to come to her room in the same hotel where he frequently stayed two days in a row. While the record does not provide us with an exact

transcript of what Knapp said to Parker prior to each buy, the record does show the Agent Lewis asked Knapp to try and set up another buy for the next day. Tr. 172. There is nothing to suggest this was Parker's idea. The State should not be allowed to claim the two transactions were close in time when the State actually set up the times of the buys. As Agent Lewis stated, this was a direct attempt to manufacture a pattern to show he was a problem. *Id*.

As the Court will note, the second transaction on July 14<sup>th</sup>, Exhibit 3, does not show Parker handing Knapp anything. Trying these two cases together unduly prejudiced the defendant. Parker is entitled to a new trial on both counts.

## ISSUE NO. 2 THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT TRIAL COUNSEL A CONTINUANCE.

On the morning before trial, counsel requested that the court grant her motion for a continuance. C.P. 42-43, R.E. 19-20. Counsel informed the court that she had just been involved in an extensive political campaign which took up approximately two months of her time. This election was only concluded the week before. Counsel was also involved in a trial the day before in that very court. Although the defendant eventually pled, she was involved in that case for the entire day. Tr. 8, R.E. 25. Although Parker was served with his indictment only six months prior, the court, nevertheless, denied the motion. Tr. 11, 13-14, R.E. 28, 30-31.

The decision on whether or not to grant a request for a continuance is made at the trial court's discretion. It is also the defendant's burden to prove a manifest injustice if the

continuance is not granted. *Stack v. State*, 860 So.2d 687 (¶7) (Miss. 2003). The appellant submits that counsel stated that she was tired and had not had time to adequately prepare for this trial. Tr. 8. This was evinced by counsel's questioning of defense character witnesses. Counsel asked if they knew Parker's reputation for truth and honesty in the community. Tr. 239. As argued in Issue 4, *supra*, the prosecution then improperly asked the witness if her opinion would be the same if she knew Parker was accused of several other drug charges<sup>2</sup>. Tr. 239. After the jury was instructed to disregard, counsel attempted to clarify how she should ask the reputation question.

BY MS. JOURDAN: Your Honor, while the jury is still out and I know the Court has been very patient with us this morning, I would like to clarify my understanding so, I don't further misstep or we don't have a further misstep in this trial.

If I'm understanding the Court's ruling and Mr. Allgood's argument, it was the use of the word, "honesty". So, if I'm understanding the Court and also the Porter case, if we limit the inquiry to truth and veracity –

BY THE COURT: Then you don't open that door to that kind of thing unless it's a crime of dishonesty.

BY MS. JOURDAN: Correct. So, if we – and I'll be candid with the Court, we have additional – *yesterday I was tired*. And Mr. Allgood is correct, I did use the word "honesty". But if we use the words "truth" and "veracity", then Mr. Allgood cannot bring up those incidences. Is that correct?

BY THE COURT: That's my understanding.

BY MR. ALLGOOD: That would be my understanding also of Brent and Porter, Your Honor.

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