ATIBA PARKER

FILED

APPELLANT

MAR 19 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-0490

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL:

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

The Trial Judge correctly denied Parker's Motion for Mistrial after the prosecutor asked character witness who testified that Parker had a good reputation for truth and honesty if she was aware that Parker had been charged with three counts of selling cocaine and two counts of possession. The trial judge is provided considerable discretion to determine whether the remark is so prejudicial that a mistrial should be declared," and if no "serious and irreparable damage" has resulted, the trial judge should admonish the jury at that time to "disregard the impropriety," which the judge did in this instance.

Parker's sentence was well within statutory limits and was therefore not unduly harsh. It is well settled that sentencing is within the sole discretion of the trial court, and the Mississippi Supreme Court has held that it will not reverse a sentence where it is within the limits prescribed by statute.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court correctly denied Parker's motion to sever counts I and II of the indictment.

A trial court's denial of a motion to sever multiple counts in a single indictment is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Rushing v. State*, 911 So.2d 526, 532 (Miss.2005). Mississippi Code Section 99-7-2 (Rev.2000) provides:

Two (2) or more offenses which are triable in the same court may be charged in the same indictment with a separate count for each offense if: (a) the offenses are based on the same act or transaction; or (b) the offenses are based on two (2) or more acts or transactions connected together or constituting parts of a common scheme or plan.

Parker was charged in a three count indictment with three sales of cocaine, one alleged to have occurred on the 14th day of July, another on the 13th day of July, and the third count on the 20th day of July. (Tr. 12).

At the pretrial hearing on his motion to sever the three counts, Parker argued primarily that Count III, which occurred several days after the original Count II, should be severed. (C.P. 45, Tr. 9). Parker also argued that Count I should be severed as well, and all counts should be tried separately. (Tr. 9.10). The record reflects that Counts I and II occurred on April 14th and 13th respectively, and involved the same defendants, informants, agents and location. Further, testimony revealed that a phone call made on the evening of the 13th enlisted the deal on the 14th. The State confessed Parker's Motion as to Count III because of the remoteness in time.

The Trial Court granted Parker's motion as to Count III, but held that Counts I and II could be tried together pursuant to the multi-count indictment statute. (Tr. 10, 11) The Trial Court relied on *State, vs. Rushing*, 911 So.2d 526, 532 (Miss.2005), in which the Mississippi Supreme Court established the following three factors for lower courts to consider when

determining whether a multi-count indictment is proper: (1) whether the time period between the occurrences is insignificant, (2) whether the evidence proving each count would be admissible to prove each of the other counts, and (3) whether the crimes are interwoven. *Rushing*, 911 So.2d at 533 (citing *Corley v. State*, 584 So.2d 769, 772 (Miss. 1991)).

The *Rushing* court stated the time factor must be considered together with the totality of events, and that there is no bright line test for determining whether the amount of time is significant or insignificant. *Id.* at 536. The court went on to find that four counts of prescription forgery which occurred at two separate pharmacies over a five month period were properly charged under a single indictment. *Id.* at 537.

In the case sub judice, the Trial Court noted that Counts I and II were only one day apart, that the crimes are the same and the witnesses are the same. The Trial Court therefore correctly held that Counts I and II should not be severed. This issue is without merit and the trial court's decision should be affirmed.

II. The Trial Court was within its discretion to deny Parker's Motion for a Continuance.

"The decision to grant or deny a motion for a continuance is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed unless the decision results in manifest injustice." *Ross* v. *State*, 954 So.2d 968, 1007 (Miss. 2007) (citation omitted).

Parker was indicted on April 21, 2006 and was served with the indictment on May 15, 2006. (Tr. 11) The case was set for trial in the August term of Court, and on motion of the defendant for a continuance due to docket congestion, the trial was continued until November 16, 2006. On November 15th, Parker filed another Motion for Continuance due to the outstanding Motion to Sever, an exhaustive witness list and Parker's counsel's recently completed campaign for public office. (C.P. 42)

The Trial Court denied Parker's request for a continuance, noting the following factors: the case had been indicted since May of 2006, allowing six months for preparation, discovery had already been conducted, subpoenas were issued and the case was a routine sale of drugs case without any unusual features. The Trial Court noted the ample amount of experience Parker's counsel had in defending sale of cocaine cases, and her capability of defending such cases. (Tr. 13) The Trial Court further noted than continuing the case would add to the docket congestion.

"The decision to grant or deny a motion for continuance is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be grounds for reversal unless shown to have resulted in manifest injustice." *Smiley v. State*, 815 So.2d 1140, 1143-44 (Miss. 2002) (quoting *Coleman v. State*, 697 So.2d 777, 780 (Miss. 1997)). The Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in denying Parker's motion for continuance and the judgment of the Trial Court should be affirmed.

III. The Trial Court did not err in refusing Parker's peremptory challenge of a white juror where Parker's counsel had not stricken that juror from a previous panel earlier in the week.

Parker's counsel exercised her first four peremptory strikes on white jurors, two females and two males. The State made a Batson challenge, and Parker offered sufficiently race neutral reasons for each of the four. The State then accepted the next four jurors on the panel and they were tendered to Parker. The State accepted Parker's race neutral reason as to J36, who worked for the Sheriff's Department, but challenged her reason for exercising a peremptory strike of J32, a 78 year old white male, since he had not answered any questions during the voir dire.

After a race-neutral explanation has been given, "the trial court must determine whether the objecting party has met its burden to prove that there has been purposeful discrimination in the exercise of the peremptory," i.e., that the reason given was a pretext for discrimination.

McFarland v. State, 707 So.2d at 171 (Miss. 2007). This Court has recognized five indicia of

pretext that are relevant when analyzing the race-neutral reasons offered by the proponent of a peremptory strike, specifically: (1) disparate treatment, that is, the presence of unchallenged jurors of the opposite race who share the characteristic given as the basis for the challenge; (2) the failure to voir dire as to the characteristic cited; (3) the characteristic cited is unrelated to the facts of the case; (4) lack of record support for the stated reason; and (5) group-based traits.

Manning v. State, 765 So.2d 516, 519 (Miss. 2000) (citations omitted). The burden remains on the opponent of the strike to show that the race-neutral explanation given is merely a pretext for racial discrimination. Berry, 802 So.2d at 1042.

While the Trial Court in the case *sub judice* did not use the term "pre-textual" in denying the challenge to Juror 32, the Trial Court was clearly making an on-the-record determination that the challenge was pre-textual. Parker's counsel gave as her race-neutral reason for striking Juror 23, that he was a retired military person who had recently served on a civil jury and made a return verdict. (Tr. 101) The Trial Court rejected this reason as race-neutral, since Parker's counsel had not stricken Juror 32 from a previous panel during the week while she still had peremptory challenges. While it is not clear from the record what the case on the previous Tuesday was, the Trial Court clearly found that had her reason been nothing more than his military background and his previous service on a civil jury, that Parker's counsel would have stricken him in the previous case. The Trial Court's decision not to allow the strike was based on her inconsistency in regard to this juror and the Trial Court reasonably concluded that this inconsistency revealed that her stated race-neutral reasons were pre-textual. Parker's counsel offered no explanation for this inconsistency that would distinguish the juror's suitability to serve in one case but not the other

inconsistency that would distinguish the juror's suitability to serve and thus could not overcome the prosecution's *Batson* challenge.

Regarding the review of Batson determinations, the Mississippi Supreme Court has stated

6

that: [a] reversal will only occur if the factual findings of the trial judge appear to be "clearly erroneous or against the overwhelming weight of the evidence." Tanner [v. State], 764 So.2d 385, 393 (Miss. 2000) "On appellate review, the trial court's determinations under Batson . . . are accorded great deference because they are based, in a large part, on credibility." Coleman v. State, 697 So.2d 777, 785 (Miss. 1997) The term "great deference" has been defined in the Batson context as meaning an insulation from appellate reversal any trial findings which are not clearly erroneous. Lockett v. State, 517 So.2d [1346,] 1349 (Miss. 1987). This deferential standard of review reflects "confidence that trial judges experienced in supervising voir dire, will be able to decide if the circumstances concerning the prosecutor's use of peremptory challenges creates a prima facie case of discrimination against black jurors." Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986).

Parker's race-neutral reason for striking Juror 32 was not credible and the Trial Court is entitled to great deference. This issue is without merit and the decision of the Trial Court should be affirmed.

IV. The Trial Judge correctly denied Parker's Motion for Mistrial after the prosecutor asked character witness who testified that Parker had a good reputation for truth and honesty if she was aware that Parker had been charged with three counts of selling cocaine and two counts of possession.

Parker called his employer Melanie Corbell as a character witness. Ms. Corbell testified that Parker had a good reputation in the community for truthfulness and honesty. (Tr. 238) The State then asked Ms. Corbell on cross examination if she realized it was not honest to sell drugs, to which Ms. Corbell replied, "Yes, Sir." (Tr. 239) The State then asked Ms. Corbell if she was aware of that Parker had been charged with three counts of selling cocaine and two counts of possession in Lowndes County on separate occasions and separate days. Parker's counsel lodged

an objection. The State argued that the door had been opened. (Tr. 239) The Trial Court recessed for the evening and asked counsel to return the next morning with caselaw on the objection. (Tr. 240)

The State argued that the evidence was admissible pursuant to *Porter v. State*, 869 So.2d 414 (Miss. 2004). However, the trial court ruled that there should have been a 403 balancing test before the question on cross was asked. The Trial Court determined that the correct course of action was to ask the jury if they could disregard the last question and there was no answer given. If the jury indicated that it was able to disregard that, then the trial would proceed. The Trial Court denied the Motion for Mistrial. The Trial Court then asked the jury to disregard the last question asked on the previous day and all jurors assented. The Trial Court then instructed the jury not to consider the last question and asked if everyone could follow that instruction. The jurors all indicated that they could follow the instruction. The Trial Court then asked if there was anyone who could not follow the instruction. There was no indication from any juror that they could not follow the instruction. (Tr. 248)

"The judge is provided considerable discretion to determine whether the remark is so prejudicial that a mistrial should be declared," and if no "serious and irreparable damage" has resulted, the trial judge should admonish the jury at that time to "disregard the impropriety," which the judge did in this instance. See *Carpenter v. State*, 910 So.2d 528, 534 (Miss. 2005) (citing *Roundtree v. State*, 568 So.2d 1173, 1177 (Miss. 1990)).

Parker cites *Henderson v. State*, 403 So.2d 139, 140 (Miss. 1981) for the proposition that the instruction to disregard is insufficient in this case. However, in Henderson, the facts of the case are distinguishable. In Henderson, the district attorney, after hearing the court's lengthy admonition to the jury to disregard his improper question with reference to Ricky Scott's

indictment for the burglary of a dwelling, he thereafter, by a question, advised the jury that the appellant's co-indictee and twin brother, Michael Henderson, had been previously convicted for his participation in the same offense for which the defendant was on trial. The Court in *Henderson* opined:

We doubt very seriously whether there is a district attorney in the State who does not know that asking such a question is improper. At the same time, we recognize that there are times when the district attorney unwittingly and unintentionally falls into asking such questions. In most of those instances, where the jury is admonished to disregard the district attorney's improper question, we can safely and in good conscience hold that there was no prejudice and the trial court correctly overruled defendant's motion for a mistrial.

The prosecutor in this case believed that the door had been opened and mistakenly asked an improper question. The witness did not answer the question and the Trial Court took proper measures to cure the error. In the absence of anything to show the contrary, the presumption is that the jury in reaching its verdict followed the court's instructions. *Reid v. State*, 266 So.2d 21 (Miss. 1972). Parker's claim is without merit and the trial court's refusal to grant a mistrial based on the Prosecution's question to Ms. Corbell should be affirmed.

V. Parker's sentence was well within statutory limits and was therefore not unduly harsh.

Parker raises his claim that his sentence constitutes cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment for the first time on appeal. He acknowledges that his sentence is well within the statutory limits, since Sale of Cocaine under Miss. Code Ann. § 41-29-139 carries a maximum prison sentence of (30) years and Parker was sentenced to consecutive terms of twenty (20) and fourteen (14) years. It is well settled that sentencing is within the sole discretion of the trial court, and the Mississippi Supreme Court has held that it will not reverse a sentence where it is within the limits prescribed by statute. *Gibson v. State*, 731 So. 2D 1087, 1097 (Miss. 1998)

(citing *Hoops v. State*, 681 So.2d 521, 537 (Miss. 1996)).

Parker argues however, that because he is a young African-American charged with Sale of Cocaine, that his sentence should be more closely examined. He argues that since he confessed his drug problem to his family and sought treatment, his sentences should have been more lenient. Parker cites no precedential authority for these arguments. It follows that Parker's argument is proceedurally barred for lack of relevant authority. Arguments advanced on appeal must "contain the contentions of the appellant with respect to the issues presented, and the reasons for those contentions, with citations to the authorities, statutes and parts of the records relied on." M.R.A.P. 28(a)(6). Failure to comply with M.R.A.P. 28(a)(6) renders an argument procedurally barred." *Birrages v. Ill Cent. R.R.*, 950 So.2d 188, 194 (Miss.Ct.App. 2006).

Parker accuses the Trial Court of using his plea for leniency "as an aggravator because it was not professed prior to trial." However, there is no indication in the record that the Trial Court used Parker's belated candor to enhance his sentence, but rather the Trial Court noted that it lacked credibility as a mitigating factor because it was offered so late in the process and after Parker had given disingenuous explanations for his behavior. This is within the Trial Court's discretion. This issue is without merit and should be dismissed.